IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

JUAN OSCAR DOMINGUEZ,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

SEP 23 1981 CI TR CASE

1.2

res

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts in this case are uncontested. Mr. Dominguez was arrested while supplying cocaine (in the amount of 111 gr.) to an informant (Dr. Mann) and a third party. (T 28-32).

The Respondent was convicted and, in addition to the mandatory fine, was sentenced to seven years imprisonment. This constituted an upward departure from the "guidelines sentence" of 3-1/2 to 4-1/2 years for this first degree felony.¹ The upward departure was based upon the quantity of cocaine involved.

The First District Court of Appeal, on reviewing this case (and suggesting reversal of the departure sentence) certified the following question to this Honorable Court:

> "MAY THE QUANTITY OF DRUGS INVOLVED IN A CRIME BE A PROPER REASON TO SUPPORT DEPARTURE FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES?"

¹The three year mandatory minimum applies to this sentence.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The quantity of drugs involved in a criminal offense, such as trafficking in cocaine, should be construed as a circumstance surrounding the offense so as to justify departure.

In holding that the guidelines create a presumptive sentence of only 3-1/2 to 4-1/2 years for trafficking in cocaine, to which the sentencer must adhere regardless of quantity, the District Court has interpreted the guidelines in a manner which defeats legislative intent both in the creation of sentencing guidelines <u>and</u> the definition of trafficking as a <u>first</u>, rather than a <u>third</u>, degree felony.

ARGUMENT

THE QUANTITY OF DRUGS INVOLVED IN A CRIME MAY PROVIDE A VALID BASIS FOR DEPARTURE FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES

The question of whether the quantity of drugs involved in a criminal case should justify a departure from the sentencing guidelines is again before the Court. See <u>Flournoy v. State</u>, Case No. 70,713; <u>Atwaters v. State</u>, Case No. 69,555. The State will re-emphasize the arguments raised in those cases and will also discuss the departure issue as it has now been affected by the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Miller v. Florida</u>, 482 U.S. ____, 96 L.Ed.2d 351 (1987), which profoundly impacts the guidelines.

As noted in our earlier cases, the crime of trafficking (in cocaine) is defined as a first degree felony punishable by life in prison under §893.135, Fla.Stats.. While the amount of cocaine involved impacts the minimum time to be served, it does not determine the legal maximum sentence.

The sentencing guidelines created by Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701 similarly fail to make any distinction between major and minor drug traffickers in setting the presumptive sentence. Thus, while the Legislature gave sentencing judges wide discretion in sentencing traffickers, the guidelines, by effectively abolishing discretion, have forced all offenders into one group. See <u>Mitchell</u> <u>v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Given the fact that the guidelines impose an inreasonably low sentence for pushers

-3-

of hard drugs (3-1/2 to 4-1/2 years), the unintended beneficiaries of this administrative largesse are the very people the guidelines were set up to punish; to-wit: major importers. Indeed, one must commit this first degree felony <u>five times</u> before one can earn a "first degree sentence". This is decidedly contrary to the intent of the Legislature. <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 12 F.L.W. 445 (Fla. 1987).

We would submit that the unscored "quantity of drugs" factor is a "circumstance surrounding the offense" sufficient to justify departure under Rule 3.701(b)(3), just as other factors relating to "excessive" criminal behavior can justify departure. See <u>Vanover</u> <u>v. State</u>, 481 So.2d 31 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985); <u>Lerma v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 736 (Fla. 1986); <u>Casteel v. State</u>, 498 So.2d 1249 (Fla. 1986).

The First District in departing from decisions in <u>Seastrand</u> <u>v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 908 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985); <u>Irwin v. State</u>, 479 So.2d 153 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985) and <u>State v. Villalovo</u>, 481 So.2d 1303 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986), held that the case constituted an "inherent component of the crime" under <u>Mischler</u>² and refused to follow suit. It is this reliance upon <u>Mischler</u> and the subsequent <u>Miller</u> decision (which also cites to <u>Mischler</u>) which bears discussion.

M<u>ischler</u> states that a court can not impose a sentence in excess of a guidelines recommendation on the basis of an "inherent

²<u>State v. Mischler</u>, 488 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1986).

-4-

component of the offense". As noted above, Rule 3.701 specifically permits departures based upon "circumstances surrounding the offense" as well as factors "not in conflict"^{3"} with the purposes of the guidelines, while factors already scored can not be used as a basis to depart. Nowhere do the guidelines employ the phrase "inherent component of the crime" and nowhere, even in Mischler, is the phrase defined.

There is no such thing as an "inherent component" of a crime. Crimes have statutory elements. See <u>Blockburger v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 284 U.S. 299 (1932) and they have "surrounding circumstances", but "inherent components" they lack. The offensive term apparently surfaced in the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Steiner v. State</u>, 469 So.2d 179 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985) and, like "ain't", slipped into the vernacular without proper adoption or precise definition.

The harm caused by <u>Mischler</u> was deemed limited because this Honorable Court, like the State, considered the guidelines essentially procedural and thus subject to correction and retroactive application. <u>Miller v. Florida</u>, <u>supra</u>, has radically changed that theory and prompts corrective action.

The United States Supreme Court has decided that our guidelines are in fact substantive (not procedural) law even to the point of being subject to the constitutional prohibition against <u>ex post</u> <u>facto</u> laws. <u>Miller</u>, <u>supra</u>, states:

³See Committee Note (d)(11).

"None of the reasons given in the federal parole cases even arguably applies here. First, the revised sentencing law is a law enacted by the Florida Legislature, and it has the force and effect of law. cf Williams v. State, 500 So.2d 501, 503 (Fla. 1986)(departure sentence not supported by clear and convincing reason was erroneous even though defendant consented because "a defendant can not . . . confer on the court the authority to impose an illegal sentence"). Nor do the revised guidelines simply provide for flexible "guideposts" for use in the exercise of discretion: instead, they create a high hurdle that must be cleared before discretion can be exercised, so that a sentencing judge may impose a departure sentence only after first finding "clear and convincing' reasons that are "credible", "proven beyond a reasonable doubt" and "not a factor which has already been weighed in arriving at a presumptive sentence". See Mischler v. State"

supra, at 362-363.

Thus, <u>Mischler</u> is being used to transform the sentencing guidelines into substantive sentencing law, leaving Florida with serious constitutional problems.

The guidelines were never intended to usurp judicial discretion (and flatly say so) to lock all criminals into a mechanical sentencing acheme. See Rule 3.701(b)(3); (b)(6). As former Chief Justice Sundberg, a guidelines proponent, stated:

-6-

"Although the purpose of sentencing guidelines is the reduction of unwarranted sentence variation, the need for some variation is recognized and is indeed promoted. It is anticipated that from 15 to 20% of the sentencing decisions will routinely fall outside of the recommended range. At no time should sentencing guidelines be viewed as the final word in the sentencing process . . . The specific circumstances of the offense may be used to either aggravate or mitigate the sentence". A. Sundberg, A Report To The Legislature. Statewide Sentencing Guidelines Implementation and Review, p. 22.

Somehow, courtesy of <u>Hendrix v. State</u>, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985); <u>Albritton v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1985) and <u>Mischler</u>, <u>supra</u>, we have strayed from this path. Indeed, even though the guidelines expressly state that:

> "The penalty imposed should be commensurate with the severity of the convicted offense"

§ (b)(3)

We are now being told that when the recommended guidelines sentence is <u>not</u> commensurate with the severity of the offense, that is not a valid reason to depart. <u>Hansbrough v. State</u>, 12 F.L.W. 305 (Fla. 1987); <u>Scurry v. State</u>, 489 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1986). (How can the trial courts of this state be expected to enforce rules when the language contained in the rules is nullified on appeal?)

The intent of the Legislature must control. <u>Carawan</u>, <u>supra</u>. Section 921.007(4)(a), Fla.Stat., provides:

-7-

"Upon recommendation of a plan by the commission, the Supreme Court shall develop by September 1, 1983, statewide sentencing guidelines to provide trial court judges with factors to consider and utilize in determining the presumptively appropriate sentences in criminal cases".

The Legislature only intended the creation of <u>guidelines</u>, not substantive law. The guidelines approved by the Legislature contained language (and committee notes) which provided for departure. The Legislature was told by Justice Sundberg that variation was both proper and expected in 20% of all cases.⁴ What has happened since is a gradual shift in interpretation from treating the rule as "guidelines" to treating it as some "substantive law". As a result, first degree felonies have been reduced to third degree falonies (as in this case) without Legislative approval or public debate.⁵

In <u>Hamilton v. State</u>, 366 So.2d 8, 11 (Fla. 1978), this Honorable Court held (quoting <u>Gregg v. Georgia</u>, 428 U.S. 153 (1987)):

⁴Indeed, the departures averaged just 19% in the pilot program prior to <u>Mischler</u>, <u>et al</u>. See "An Examination Of Issues In The Florida Sentencing Guidelines", 8 <u>Nova</u> Law Journal 700.

⁵"Controversial crimes such as prostitution, drug offenses and other victimless crimes were deliberated at length and reappraised at a normative level" [by the Guidelines Commission]. Id.

-8-

"We may not require the Legislature to select the least severe penalty possible so long as the penalty selected is not cruelly inhumane or disproportionate to the crime involved. And a heavy burden rests on those who would attack the judgment of the representations of the people.

This is true in part because the Constitutional test is intertwined with an assessment of contemporary standards and the Legislative judgment weighs heavily in ascertaining such standards. In a democratic society legislatures, not courts, are constitutional to respond to the will and consequently the moral values of the people".

Now we come to the problems created by the necessary change in apprehension of the guidelines (from procedural to substantive law) caused by Miller.

First, only the Florida Legislature may constitutionally define and set the punishment for a crime. See Art. II, Sec. 3, Fla. Const.. If the Legislature decrees the proper sentence for first degree felonies is "up to 30 years or life", no unelected commission may redefine the offense as a <u>third</u> degree felony punishable only by 3-1/2 to 4-1/2 years in prison, based upon said commission's personal belief that drug offenses are "victimless crimes".⁶ It is further submitted that such unauthorized amendments to our criminal code should not be upheld on appeal. Hamilton, <u>supra</u>.

See Note 4.

Second, if the so-called "guidelines" (a euphemism) do create "sentencing <u>law</u>", then they could well be the product of an unconstitutional delegation of legislative authority to this Honorable Court. Looking again to legislative intent, we find that 921.007 called only for creation of factors which would <u>lead</u> to a presumptive sentence, not presumptive sentences themselves.

The ratification of the guidelines by the Legislature must itself be viewed in context. The Legislature approved "guidelines" after being told by the Chief Justice that trial judges would still have discretion and after being read (or shown) committee notes and "statements or purpose" reflecting same. It was only after the "Trojan Horse" got into the system that it suddenly, by decisional law, became "sentencing law" rather than mere guidelines. Now, Florida must contend with <u>Miller</u>. Finally, the enactment of guidelines as rules of criminal procedure, promulgated by this Honorable Court, now causes confusion because rules of procedure are not supposed to override Florida Statutes on issues of substantive law. Be redefining crimes and establishing Iengths of sentence, the guidelines are no longer simply procedural rules, they are (improperly enacted) "laws".

Again, we do not contend that this scenario was the product of any intentional misdeed or any desire to circumvent the constitution.⁷ The guidelines were a good faith effort to deal

-10-

⁷Indeed, this Court's decision in Miller that the guidelines are procedural shows that no intent existed.

with the problems of disparate sentencing and prison overcrowding. The problem is that in seeking to solve these problems by tightening the guidelines, we have stumbled into creating "substantive law". Miller, supra.

It is, of course, within the power of this Honorable Court to correct the problem. This Court, not some federal court, is the final interpreter of state law, with said interpretations binding even in the United States Supreme Court. <u>Wainwright v.</u> <u>Goode, _____</u> U.S. ____, 78 L.Ed.2d 187 (1983); <u>Barclay v. Florida</u>, _____ U.S. ____, 77 L.Ed.2d 1134 (1983). Since the problems posed by <u>Miller</u> stem from the decision in <u>Mischler</u> and not from the rule or the statutes themselves, the obvious solution is to recede from <u>Mischler</u> and modify <u>Hendrix</u> and <u>Albritton</u> to the point where the guidelines are restored to their proper status -"as guidelines" - as described by Justice Sundberg, the Florida Legislature and the face of <u>Rule</u> 3.701. If we can not recede from these cases, then the guidelines should be abolished and reenacted in proper form.

This discussion must now be brought to bear on Mr. Dominguez' case.

The sentencer, by law, was the trial judge (not the guidelines commission). Due to the quantity of cocaine involved, a departure from the guidelines was deemed appropriate. This Honorable Court will note that the departure was not radical, but rather merely increased a 4-1/2 year "recommended" sentence

-11-

to 7 years, which (after service of the 3 year mandatory minimum) will be reduced by gain time.

The Legislature vested the trial judge with discretion ranging from "0" to "life" for this crime. The guidelines guided the judge's discretion to seven years, which was not unreasonable given the fact that "lll grams" is almost four times the threshhold amount for the three year minimum mandatory sentence.

Again, Dominguez committed a first degree felony, not a third degree felony. If, however, the "guidelines" are binding, then by statute Dominguez committed only a third degree felony. See §§ 775.08, 775.08(3)(d), Fla. Stat. Future scoring for Mr. Dominguez would thus be very difficult. He would have to be arrested for trafficking four more times to get a first degree sentence if every crime was counted as a first degree felony. If, relying upon <u>Miller</u>, Dominguez could prove to either a state court or a federal habeas court that he committed only a <u>third</u> degree felony under §775.08(3)(d) (because the 4-1/2 year sentence was the "legal" sentence)⁸, one can only guess how many points he would need to score over a long period of repeat offenses contrary to legislative intent - before this pusher could be removed from society.

⁸Again, <u>Miller</u> quotes <u>Williams v. State</u>, 500 So.2d 501, 503 (Fla. 1986) which deems the "guidelines sentence" and <u>not</u> the "statutory" sentence as the "legal" sentence.

-12 -

The only way to resolve this problem is to reaffirm the constitutional power of the Florida Legislature to make cocaine trafficking a first degree felony, legally punishable by life in prison, subject only to the guided discretion of the guidelines. A reasonable departure based upon the quantity of drugs involved in the case would thus be justifiable as a "circumstance surrounding the offense".

Finally, one additional matter bears discussion. In setting aside the lower court's sentence, the District Court, using a "half empty vs. half full" approach, declared that 111 grams, while four times the threshhold amount (for a three year mandatory minimum) was only about "ĥalf" the maximum amount (of 200 grams) for that same minimum, so it rejected the sentence. Sentencing discretion is legally vested in trial judges, not distant appellate judges who are more charitably disposed towards faceless names in cold transcripts. It was error for the District Court to reject the legal sentence at bar on such grounds.

-13-

CONCLUSION

The certified question should be answered in the affirmative.