IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORI

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 70,883

oct 3 km

JUAN OSCAR DOMINGUEZ,
Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER #197890 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

THE QUANTITY OF DRUGS INVOLVED IN A CRIME MAY NOT BE A PROPER REASON TO SUPPORT DEPARTURE FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES, WHERE THE STATUTE PUNISHING THE CRIME PROVIDES FOR INCREASING PUNISHMENT ACCORDING TO A RANGE INVOLVING THE WEIGHT OF THE DRUG, AND THE QUANTITY OF DRUGS INVOLVED IN THIS CASE FALLS WITHIN THE LOWEST RANGE.

The statute at issue here provides that the mere actual or constructive possession of 28 grams or more of a mixture containing cocaine is defined as trafficking in cocaine and punished as a first degree felony. Section 893.135(1)(b), Florida Statutes. A first degree felony is punishable by a maximum of 30 years in prison or a \$10,000 fine. Sections 775.082(3)(b) and 775.083(1)(b), Florida Statutes. If a defendant possesses less than 28 grams of cocaine, he has committed only a second degree felony, with no mandatory minimum. Sections 775.082(3)(c), 775.083(1)(b)11², 893.13(1)(a)1, Florida Statutes.

As in the instant case, if the amount of cocaine possessed is 28 grams or more, but less than 200 grams, the first degree felony remains the same, but mandatory minimum penalties of three years and a \$50,000 fine are created. Section

As this Court can see, petitioner has chosen to modify the certified question, for reasons which will become apparent later.

² Section 893.03(1) is entitled "Schedule 1".

893.135(1)(b)1, Florida Statutes. If the amount of cocaine possessed is 200 grams or more, but less than 400 grams, the first degree felony remains the same, but the mandatory minimum penalties are increased to 5 years and a \$100,000 fine. Section 893.135(1)(b)2, Florida Statutes. If the amount of cocaine possessed is 400 grams or more, the first degree felony remains the same, but the mandatory minimum penalties are increased to 15 years and a \$250,000 fine. Section 893.135(1)(b)3, Florida Statutes. The statute contains similar mandatory minimums for trafficking in various amounts of cannabis, heroin, phencyclidine, and methaqualone.

On the category 6 sentencing guidelines scoresheet, a defendant who possesses less than 28 grams of cocaine receives 65 points, for the second degree felony as the primary offense. This translates into any non-state prison sanction as the presumptively-correct disposition. But a defendant who traffics in between 28 and 200 grams commits a first degree felony, with a corresponding point assessment of 137, which calls for a 3 1/2 - 4 1/2 year sentence. Such a defendant must also receive at least a three year mandatory minimum. defendant traffics in between 200 and 400 grams, his point total and recommended sentence remain the same, but his mandatory minimum 5 year sentence takes precedence over his 3 1/2 - 4 1/2 year range. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(9). If he traffics in more than 400 grams of cocaine, his point total and recommended sentence remain the same, but his 15 year mandatory minimum sentence takes precedence over

his 3 1/2 - 4 1/2 year range. Id. Thus, the legislature and this Court, through the guidelines rule, have mandated that anyone who traffics in more than 28 grams of cocaine must go to prison, for at least 3 1/2 years. Moreover, the legislature has added the additional penalty of at least a three year mandatory minimum, during which the defendant cannot earn gain time of as little as 10 days or as much as 30 days per month. Section 944.275, Florida Statutes.

Since the legislature classified trafficking as a first degree felony, automatically requiring some prison time, including some mandatory minimum time, a defendant who commits the trafficking crime solely because he possesses more than 28 grams of cocaine is already being punished for the amount of cocaine involved. To use the quantity of drugs to punish him again by allowing a departure from the recommended guidelines range, which already calls for prison time, constitutes a violation of Hendrix v. State, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985) and State v. Mischler, 488 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1986).

Respondent submits that both types of <u>Mischler</u> situations exist here. An "inherent component" of trafficking is the quantity of drugs. Without the threshold amount, the crime is only possession and only a second degree felony. A "factor already taken into account" in the scoresheet is the elevation of the crime from a second degree to a first degree felony, an increase of 22 points, which automatically takes the disposition out of the non-state prison cell and into the mandatory state prison range.

Santiago v. State, 478 So.2d 47 (Fla. 1985) has already answered the question, for Santiago cited Hendrix and held:

The nature and danger of possession with intent to sell a <u>Schedule I substance</u> is factored into the penalty recommended by the guidelines. To allow those factors to be reconsidered as an aggravation allowing departure from the guidelines is contrary to the spirit and intent of the guidelines.

Id. at 49 (emphasis added).

As noted about in footnote 2, possession of cocaine is a Schedule I drug. Thus, this Court's holding in <u>Santiago</u> has already provided an answer to the question certified by the lower tribunal. The answer, in light of Santiago, must be No.

While it is true that, before the quidelines quantity was an important consideration in determining an appropriate sentence, it is now not relevant to what a trial court may do under the guidelines. Before the guidelines, trial courts had great discretion in sentencing, limited only by a few considerations, such as statutory maximum sentences. climate of much discretion tempered only by a few external standards, quantity was a logical and appropriate consideration in sentencing. Although the guidelines had not totally usurped judicial discretion, they have limited it and set many external standards. A quantity of drug which is inherent in a statute covered by the guidelines is not an appropriate reason to depart, even though it was an appropriate consideration before the quidelines were created. It is logical to distinguish length of sentence by quantity of drug, but it is preguidelines logic and no longer applicable.

To hold that the presumptive guideline sentence is inadequate to punish an activity and quantity clearly within the corners of the statute is to attack the adequacy of the guidelines generally. See Williams v. State, 492 So.2d 1308 (Fla. 1986) (trial judge's mere disagreement with guidelines not valid reason for departure). It is no more reasonable to act as though the guidelines are adequate only for the least activity, presumably mere possession of cocaine, and the least quantity, 28 grams, and anything more supports a departure, than it is to say that the guidelines, being adequate for the greatest amount, 400 grams, and most culpable activity, actual sale, support underdeparture for anything less. If the legislature intended to treat mere possession of cocaine and actual trafficking in cocaine as equally bad acts, and if the legislature chooses not to distinguish among quantities more narrowly than the 28-200 grams, 200-400 grams, or over 400 grams ranges, the judiciary may not draw distinctions which the legislature has not chosen to. There are, arguably, logical distinctions between possession and sale, and between 28 grams and 111 grams, but the legal distinctions between them are for the legislature to draw. The pragmatic issue of where to draw the line is a legislative, not a judicial, function.

There is nothing to prevent the legislature or this Court from drawing finer distinctions amount quantities of cocaine.

They could, for example, include extra points on the scoresheet based on quantity -- such as no extra points for the 28-200

gram range, x additional points for 200-400 grams, xx additional points for more than 400 grams. The legislature, the Sentencing Guidelines Commission, nor this Court has done this; trial or appellate judges may not do it for them.

These arguments point out the greatest pitfall of basing departure on quantity, which is simply that it is too subjective. The guidelines are supposed to be objective and lead to uniform sentences. How would a trial court decide the appropriate extent of departure for a quantity of cocaine? Is it a one cell increase for 100 grams, or a two cell increase for 200 grams, or a three cell increase for 300 grams?

Other appellate courts have struggled over this question. Guerrero v. State, 484 So.2d 59 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986) (965 grams of cocaine a permissible ground for departure); Mullen v. State, 483 So.2d 754 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986) (possession of 13.8) grams of cocaine a permissible ground for departure); Pursell v. State, 483 So.2d 93 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986) (1,952 grams of cocaine permissible ground for departure); Irwin v. State, 479 So.2d 153 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985) (quantity unstated but permissible ground for departure, citing Smith v. State, 454 So.2d 90 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984); Benitez v. State, 470 So.2d 734 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985) (quantity not stated but permissible ground for departure); Jean v. State, 455 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984) (two pounds of marijuana permissible ground for departure because far more than 20 grams necessary for conviction); and Seastrand v. State, 474 So.2d 908 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985) (2,000 "hits" or LSD, questionable validity in light

of <u>Santiago</u>). Compare these cases with <u>Jiminez v. State</u>, 486 So.2d 36 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986) (one ounce equalling approximately 28.35 grams of cocaine not permissible ground for departure as being a deminimus excess over the minimum necessary to convict of trafficking); and <u>Gallo v. State</u>, 483 So.2d 876 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986) (43.5 grams of cocaine not permissible ground for departure).

Petitioner maintains, based upon the preceding argument, that the best answer to the certified question would be an unqualified NO. However, it could be answered with a qualified yes, without doing violence to Mischler or Hendrix or Santiago. If departure is to be allowed based upon the quantity of drugs, it should be limited only to the situation, such as occurred in Guerrero and Pursell, where the quantity of drugs far exceeds the amount that the legislature has given as the "outer limit" of the range, i.e., more than 10,000 pounds of cannabis, or more than 400 grams of cocaine, or more than 28 grams of heroin, or more than 400 grams of PCP, or more than 25 kilograms of methaqualone. Such a departure could be justified by the preguidelines logic addressed above. But where the legislature has already provided a range of quantities, and the defendant falls within that range, whether close to the lower amount or close to the higher amount, departure cannot be sanctioned because the weight is already included in the degree of the crime and its corresponding penalties. Only where the quantity far exceeds the quantity which calls for the most

serious penalty would departure beyond the recommended guidelines sentence be appropriate.

The lower tribunal seems to have recognized this distinction in the decision of Newton v. State, 490 So.2d 179 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). In that case the defendant was convicted of trafficking in 170 grams of cocaine, which amount falls within the least serious type of trafficking. The judge doubly departed from the recommended guidelines sentence and imposed an 18 year sentence, because 170 grams was very close to the 200 gram limit for this type of trafficking. The lower tribunal held that this was an improper reason, because the "outer limit" for trafficking in cocaine is not 200 grams, but rather more than 400 grams, which is the most serious category of trafficking in cocaine:

Therefore, 170 grams of cocaine is not at the outer limit of the offense of trafficking which contemplates amounts much greater than 400 grams.

* * *

Newton's offense clearly falls within the first division of the cocaine trafficking category [28-200] grams. The lower court here refers to the legislative intent that every increasing amounts of cocaine are tantamount to aggravating factors. We disagree and find the amount here to be within the recommended category.

Id. at 181.

In <u>Flournoy v. State</u>, 507 So.2d 668 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), pending, case #70,713, a rare en banc opinion, the lower tribunal followed the Newton logic but not its holding and

found that a defendant who had been convicted of attempted trafficking in 12.5 grams of heroin could receive a departure sentence because it was so close to the 14 grams necessary for the next higher minimum mandatory.

On the other hand, other appellate courts have recently held that the quantity of drugs can <u>never</u> operate as a reason for departure. See, e.g., <u>Banks v. State</u>, 509 So.2d 1320 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). This approach is far superior to the hair-splitting done by the First District in <u>Newton</u> and <u>Flournoy</u>, particularly where the total quantity, as here, may contain a majority of a substance which is not even a controlled substance.

Any other construction would be illogical and contrary to the letter and spirit of the guidelines. Unless and until the legislature amends the drug trafficking statute to narrow the ranges of the quantity of drugs, or to reclassify the degree of the crimes, this Court is powerless to impute more serious penalties to a defendant whose quantity of drugs falls within the proscribed range of weights. Unless and until this Court and the legislature amend the scoresheets to provide increasing point assessments before increasing quantities of drugs, the amount of the drug cannot be used as a reason for departure unless it far exceeds the "outer limit" of the crimes as defined by statute. This Court must answer the certified question in the negative; or, in the alternative, answer in the affirmative, but only where the quantity of drugs far exceeds the "outer limit" of the offense.

Petitioner attacks this Court's <u>Mischler</u> decision (PB at 5-7) without demonstrating how it should have been decided differently or why it should be promptly overruled. Petitioner next argues that "first degree felonies have been reduced to third degree falonies" [sic] (PB at 8; 12). Respondent fails to see how this is so, since, as demonstrated by the above discussions at page 7 of this brief, trafficking is far more serious than mere possession.³

Petitioner next makes a veiled suggestion that the guidelines are unconstitutional, and suggests that they be abolished! (PB at 8-11). This is a curious position, since it was the Attorney General's office which lobbied for their enactment, and which is responsible for upholding the validity of any state statute. If the guidelines are unconstitutional, then let us get rid of them.

This case demonstrates how unfair the guidelines are in practice, even though their stated purpose was to make sentencing more uniform. Mr. Taylor, whose residence was used for the transaction, had dealt drugs with Dr. Mann previously (T-28). There is nothing in the record to show that respondent had any other dealings in drugs; in fact, he was unknown to the police before this transaction (T-68).

³ Petitioner erroneously states that trafficking is punishable by life (PB at 9). It is not.

Codefendant Taylor and respondent had the same recommended range, i.e., 3 1/2 - 4 1/2 years. Yet Taylor received an under-departure sentence of only 3 years, and respondent received an upward-departure sentence of 7 years. If any departure was warranted for respondent, it should have been a downward departure to equalize his sentence with that of the equally-culpable Mr. Taylor. See the discussion in Sanders v. State, 510 So.2d 296 (Fla. 1987). There is no way to justify respondent's upward-departure sentence, and petitioner has not done so. This Court must answer the question in the negative and approve the First District's result but not its logic.

The prosecutor justified the disparity by saying the offer was made on a "first-come, first-served basis" and that he wanted one of the participants to testify against the other (T-183). Yet Taylor never testified:

V CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, respondent requests that the certified question be answered in the negative, or answered in the affirmative, but only for a large quantity of drugs, far in excess of the highest statutory range. In either event, the decision of the First District, which reversed respondent's departure sentence, must be approved.

Respectfully submitted,

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER

#197890

Assistant Public Defender Second Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 671

Tallahassee, Florida 32302

(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT